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INQUIRY OPENS

JUSTICE STEVENS WELCOMES PARTIES
JUSTICE STEVENS:

A very warm welcome to all of those who have come today to this, the first hearing of the Government inquiry into events surrounding the Havelock North drinking water.  This inquiry came about because of events in or about mid‑August this year when the Hastings District Council and the Hawkes Bay District Health Board became aware of a widespread occurrence of gastroenteritis in Havelock North.  It emerged that campylobacter was the primary infectious agent and that a very substantial number of people had been affected and that the Havelock North drinking water was a probable cause.  The Government determined that the seriousness of the outbreak and public safety issues involved meant that a Government inquiry should be established under the Inquiries Act 2013.  The inquiry was formally gazetted on the 15th of September this year.  My name is Lyn Stevens and I have been appointed to chair the inquiry.  Dr Karen Poutasi is one of the panel members, along with Mr Anthony Wilson on my left.  The terms of reference for the inquiry have been notified in the Gazette.  They require us to investigate and report on how the Havelock North water supply became contaminated.  How the outbreak was subsequently addressed, the adequacy of responses by all concerned and how to reduce the risk of any recurrence of an outbreak of this nature and I am going to take a moment to just layout for all present the matters that we as the inquiry are required to report on and to provide recommendations to Government as a result of being appointed to this inquiry.  The first matter concerns the cause or causes of the outbreak.  Second, whether any person or organisation was at fault or failed to meet required standards.  Third, the adequacy of the management of drinking water supplies for Havelock North.  The implementation of drinking water standards, contingency planning, preparedness and the responses of local and central government agencies and any other relevant parties.  Any legal or regulatory changes or additions necessary and desirable to prevent or minimise similar incidents.  Any changes or additions to operational practices for monitoring, testing, reporting on and the management of drinking water supplies and finally any other matter which the inquiry believes may promote, the safety of drinking water and/or prevent the reoccurrence of similar incidents.  The inquiry is required to report to government no later than 31 March 2017.  That is a very tight timetable. Given the number of parties that are likely to be designated core participants and the complexity of the issues involved, achieving this deadline will require great co-operation from all parties in the provision of information, documents and relevant evidence in a timely fashion.  I am pleased to say that the early signs are encouraging and greatly appreciated by the panel.  The Solicitor-General has appointed Mr Nathan Gedye QC, he is counsel assisting and he in turn will be assisted by Ms Fionnghuala Cuncannon from Meredith Connell.  Mr Blair Cairncross, who is on the left-hand side down here, is the head of Secretariat and he will deal with the administrative aspects of the inquiry.  A website has been established for the inquiry and important documents will be placed on that website so that anyone interested in following the inquiry can do so by means of the website.  Counsel assisting has already provided interested parties with a list of issues arising from the terms of reference.  These are the issues which the inquiry is interested in exploring.  We have also notified interested parties of our intention to hold public hearings in two blocks between the 28th of November and the 2nd of December and the 12th of December and the 20th of December.  I appreciate it is getting close to Christmas but it would be highly desirable to have all of the hearings completed by then.  If necessary it might be possible to have some days in January, if necessary.  I want to stress that this will be an inquisitorial investigation.  In other words, it will be led by the inquiry panel and counsel assisting.  It is not a Court case.  Shortly I will be asking the Registrar to take appearances from those people here present today but I should stress that just because people have not attended today, that does not mean to say the inquiry will not receive information or written submissions from persons who are otherwise interested.  That opportunity will still be available.  After we have taken appearances, I plan to ask Mr Gedye to make a very short opening statement and he may well elaborate on one or two of the matters to which I have referred briefly.  Then one of the key aspects that I would like to discuss today is the appropriateness of the inquiry proceeding in two stages.  First, relating to cause and issues of fault and those are the first few issues on the issues paper and then a second stage dealing with changes or possible changes and recommendations in relation to the regime for drinking water and the statutory provisions relating to those involved.  I have also asked that we receive indications from those present as to those parties that wish to be designated core participants.  So those are the matters that we are dealing with today.  I do stress that today is about procedures and getting this show on the road.  That is the whole purpose of today and we do not intend today to be dealing with matters of substance or looking at facts or evidence today but as every day goes by, the inquiry is learning more through counsel assisting, through documents coming in, through material being provided to it and of course the hearings on the week of the 28th of November and the 12th of December will be opportunities when parties can address particular issues that will be identified as suitable for witnesses to be heard, evidence to be given and cross-examination to take place and once a topic has been identified and notified as being discussed on a particular day, that will be the time when everyone must be ready to deal with that topic.  All right.  Mr Registrar, I would now like to take appearances from those present.

REGISTRAR ANNOUNCES ORDER OF APPEARANCES
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MR GEDYE QC MAKES OPENING STATEMENT

May it please the inquiry, I would like to address you on three principal matters.  Firstly the nature of the inquiry and the framework within which it operates.  Secondly the terms of reference but more specifically the list of issues which we have produced and thirdly the question of whether the inquiry should proceed in stages.   But before I turn to those matters, I would like to speak of the importance of this inquiry and the reasons why the Government established it.  Health authorities have estimated that the August water contamination event led to illness by some 5200 people.  That is nearly 37% of the Havelock North population of some 14,000 people.  This is understood to be one of the largest recorded campylobacter outbreaks of water supply.  Campylobacter from the Havelock North water may have been a contributing cause at the death of three people, the Coroner is investigating at least one of those cases.  Three other people are reported to have contracted Guilliam‑Barre Syndrome, a serious neurological illness that can result in campylobacter and others had developed another complications, namely reactive arthritis.  The event has led to a lot of confidence in the quality of Havelock North water.  It has given rise to the fundamental question of whether untreated drinking water is an acceptable risk in today’s conditions in New Zealand.  That is an issue of relevance throughout New Zealand.  The safety of drinking water is an issue that involves a wide range of interests including central Government, three Ministries you have heard of; the Ministry of Health, the Ministry for Environment and the Department of Internal Affairs.  It involves local Government, we have the regional council and the district council involved and then the health authorities but principally the District Health Board, the Hawke’s Bay District Health Board.  In addition there is a range of suppliers, advisors and also representative bodies such as Water New Zealand and Local Government New Zealand.  In my submission this involves a complex multi-disciplinary network of laws, standards, organisations and parties and it is on the basis of all of those matters that the Government has recognised the importance of the issues and the public interest in them and it has recognised those by setting up this inquiry.  I want to come shortly to the terms of reference but I would state them very simply and briefly as follows.  Firstly to find out how the event happened and what went wrong and secondly to try to prevent such an event occurring again and I will come shortly to, how in my submission, those two questions fall into natural separate stages.  A brief word on timing.  The Chair has noted that there is a reporting date of 31 March.  I see that this underpins the whole approach of the inquiry as to processes.  It is important to establish the cause of this outbreak quickly.  It is necessary to restore confidence in the drinking water supply in this region as quickly as possible.  the particular question of whether the Brookvale bores can be used again and determined as quickly as possible also.  So this timing requires a highly focused approach.  I just wanted to note briefly a provision in the Inquiries Act I think is relevant, section 14(2) states that in making any decision as to procedure or conduct of an inquiry, the inquiry must have regard to the need to avoid unnecessary delay or costs in relation to public funds, witnesses or other persons participating in the inquiry.  So there's a clear statutory mandate to have regard to those matters and in my submission it will be necessary to keep an eye on those matters and on costs and time and on the relatives throughout if the reporting date is to be met.  I want to speak briefly about the Inquiries Act for the framework within which we are working.  I think most present will be familiar that that Act provides a suite of rights and powers aimed at ascertaining all of the facts strictly in addition and these include a power to subpoena witnesses, to require parties to produce documents, a power to obtain information of any sort, the power to receive any evidence that will assist, whether or not it would be admissible normally in Court under the Evidence Act, power to order disclosure of evidence between parties.  So there's very wide range of powers which can be invoked.  In my submission, there is an overarching matter which I would like to address although the Chair has mentioned this and that is the inquisitorial nature of an inquiry.  Unlike normal litigation, it is entirely up to an inquiry to frame the issues, to control the production and treatment of evidence, to originate lines of enquiry and to determine its own procedure.  Subject of course to the terms of reference and to the requirements of natural justice, it is for the inquiry to ascertain the facts it needs to produce the report it has been required to produce.  Exclusively for the inquiry to determine what matters it needs information on, how and when it obtains that information.  So I have made those remarks about the inquisitorial nature because it's important that all parties realise that this is a very different process to a Court case.  The inquiry through counsel assisting will work with the parties.  It's very much a co‑operative approach.  I wouldn't want any of my remarks about the inquisitorial process to be taken as high-handed or arbitrary process.  Very much a co-operative one and I'm pleased to say and to acknowledge that it has a very high level of co-operation to the parties today and I guess this is not a surprise because most of the key parties involved or the parties directly involved are Government organisations or local Government organisations with a high degree of public responsibility and a good level of resource.  I'm hopeful that that will make the inquiry proceed very smoothly and I'd like to acknowledge my appreciation for the co-operation and assistance we've had to date.  I foresee a period in the next month that continuing at quite an intensive level.  I'd like to speak only briefly about the terms of reference.  They're on the website and the Chair has covered the essential outputs needed in the report.  There's quite a lot of detail in the terms of reference which I have, with Ms Cuncannon, produced that turned into a list of issues which is what I want to speak about mostly but I would just note that there are three important exclusions from the terms of reference.  That is things that the inquiry is not to enquire into or determine or report on.  The first is reflecting section 11 of the Act which is questions of criminal or civil or disciplinary liability.  The inquiry will not look at those things although it will look at fault but there may be a fine line between the two, expressly avoid any question of civil, criminal or disciplinary liability.  The second matter which is excluded under the terms of reference is the structural arrangements for local government.  We have had some feedback from parties suggesting that this is the time to review the involvement of local governments, its drinking water suppliers.  As I see it, this exclusion would prevent any widespread structural or infrastructural review by this inquiry.  This inquiry is focussed on a particular incident and the matters which arise out of that.  The third exclusion is expressed this way.  Issues relating to water aquifer and catchment management which are unrelated to the contamination of specific sources of drinking water supplied to Havelock North.  Again my submission to the inquiry is that this directs a specific focus on the Havelock North water supply and bores and the catchment area surrounding Brookvale Road and it does not allow wider considerations of general water policies, land use policies and the like but in my submission, those exclusions set quite clear boundaries as to what the inquiry is able to look at.   As the Chair has pointed out the minute number 1 issue by the inquiry records the various matters on which (inaudible 10:27:11).  Could I just briefly address the proceeding in stages.  And my submission is the inquiry should proceed in two different stages.  The first being what I call incident specific matters and I will come to my list of those in a minute and the second being systemic matters.  Changes for the future, lessons learned, and other broad systemic matters.  In my submission, there are two key reasons why staging will be an efficient and useful way to proceed.  The first is that the findings from the inquiry into the causes and sources of the contamination and also responses to real shape and focus what was needed in respect of the second topic.  The findings will direct what changes and recommendations should be looked at, the shape of the second stage and make it more efficient.  Although the second stage would not necessarily be limited to the specific matters, overall in my submission it is much better to look at those issues in light of what actually happened and what follows, has happened.  The second reason is that t here are a number of parties who are interested only in stage 2 and an example I think is Water New Zealand.  Mr Pfahlert has indicated that Water New Zealand is very interested in systems of laws and changes and lessons but less involved and interested in the particular cause of this outbreak and that is a responsible approach and one I think will shorten the inquiry and make it more efficient, there are a number of parties in that camp.  I also note, I think stage 2 matters are less likely to need evidence or extensive evidence or cross‑examination and are more amenable to the written submissions that include a less evidence based approach.  While it doesn’t need to be decided now, it is also possible that sequential reports could be issued.  A report on stage 1 could be issued much more quickly if the inquiry proceeds in stages. As I submitted earlier, there is some time pressure to establish matters and to restore confidence in the drinking water supply.  From there I would like to spend a little time if that is possible Sir on my list of issues because although I have discussed it with a number of key parties, there will be a number of people here that haven't had exposure to the key things and the issues involved.  This list of issues will be posted on the website by Monday.  It is intended to reflect exactly what terms of reference cover but package them into more logical or more manageable chunks and in a logical sequence.  I won't speak at length but I would like to just run through the issues I would propose are stage 1, and these fall in two parts.  The first relates to the incident and the causes and any question of fault or failure of a system and the second relates to the responses to the outbreak.  Under the first section, I have five issues.  The first or the one I would put first is which persons or organisations have what responsibilities and this includes direct or indirect and includes in a practical sense one of the leading steps.  As I have said, we see a regime on drinking water is complicated, interdisciplinary and involving a whole lot of overlapping organisations and laws and a whole series of instruments like guidelines and standards.  The inquiry I think needs to identify all of these and so my first issue is the regimes that apply and the rules and the laws and who does what or who should do what.  We hope that this issue won't need too long public hearing time or any cross-examination or only at a minimal levels because we see this as non‑contentious and just questions of fact and the parties I have spoken to have been invited to supply us with a paper, a succinct paper setting out that organisation’s view of who does what, what responsibilities exist.  We've already had quite a lot of information from the some of the parties on this and our thinking is that each party should be well placed to supply that promptly.

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MR GEDYE:

Q. Mr Gedye, is that anticipated to be a piece that relates to the statutory and regulatory context?

A. Yes, that’s right, Sir, and further to that, who actually does what.  The two may not be precisely the same.  There's the whole level of practical application of them.  

MR GEDYE CONTINUES:
We're particularly interested in how organisations work together.  We've got environment, health and local Government.  They all have to operate together.  Our understanding is there's a large level at which is the person (inaudible 10:33:05) and it's a practical matter and we're trying to understand that very well.  What we propose is that counsel assisting will produce a global paper on – for consideration by the parties, that anyone can challenge it or call evidence on it or dispute it but we're hopeful that almost of all of it will be just agreed because it should just be a matter of fact and we hope to have that as a starting base for the inquiry’s information base as presented here.  The second issue we’d like to look at is of some history and I put it this way.  Prior to the 12th of August, which is when the positive E. coli result was confirmed, what was known or should reasonably have been known by all parties with any responsibility for drinking water safety about the risks applicable to the Havelock North drinking water supply and about previous responses.  In my submission, the inquiry does not need to and should not spend a great deal of time and resource on history but if there are incidents or trends or matters which anyone wants to raise as relevant to what happened in August, then I think the inquiry should receive that information.  I would stress that it should be relevant.  We're aware of a number of incidents that have happened which it seems have no relevance to what happened at this time.  So I foresee this as being a concentrated, succinct part of the inquiry.  The third issue is really the big one, which is the source and case of contamination of the Havelock North drinking water and this is an issue which I contemplate will need public hearing time and where witnesses may be cross-examined.  A great deal of work being done on this and there is a lot of science and engineering advisers involved.  We hope to extract all of the key information about this and it is expected that this will be the principal matter for consideration in the week beginning 28 November this year.  The last two points I want to mention are the ones involving failures or fault.  The inquiry is specifically required to look at this.  I have put the issue this way.  In relation to the contamination event, did any person or organisation fail to meet any requirement, was any person or organisation at fault.  And in addition to that, or in the alternative, was there any systemic failure.  The inquiry does need to identify these matters in order to make sensible recommendations for the future.  As I have said earlier, and I would stress, this does not relate to any civil, criminal or disciplinary liability.    So that is really the first part of my proposed stage 1.  The second half is the facts of the outbreak, the effects on victims and the actions of all relevant persons or organisations.  This is also a topic where we are hoping that we can obtain papers or information from papers which counsel assisting can turn into a set of agreed facts.  This is non-contentious, we want to know what happened.  We plan to do this by reference to a timeline.  We do not propose every specific detail but we want to know all of the key things that happened and when and who did what.  The next issue is whether the responses to the outbreak by all persons and organisations were adequate and appropriate and it is at this point I see the inquiry analysing the bare facts it has got in the previous point and making assessment of whether it was adequate and appropriate.  Another issue and one specifically in the terms is whether the level of contingency planning and preparation for a drinking water contamination event by all persons and organisations was adequate and appropriate, so we will be looking at the water safety plan produced by the Hastings District Council, and all other plans or management protocols held by the key parties, the Regional Council, the District Health Board and the Ministries.  I see this as a self-contained and relatively confined part of the inquiry which could also be produced by the parties in a neat and tidy package.  We would be looking for the actual plans plus some comment on them.

JUSTICE STEVENS to mr gedye:
Q. Mr Gedye, I assume from this list that you have been through, you anticipate that some of the parties may have nothing to contribute on some but some or perhaps quite a lot to contribute on others.  So it is not a matter of every core participant contributing on all issues?
A. That is exactly my view of the matter Sir.  We expect the selective input; some parties may well have no input on some of these issues, in fact they won’t.  An example might be, just as an example, the Regional Council’s responsibilities exist under the Resource Management Act and as I see it at the moment, they have no responsibility, or minimal responsibility, for quite a number of downstream events that I have run through.  I am not pre-supposing anything there, we are very happy to hear but as I read the regimes, there is one party that has a refined space whereas of course the District Health Board is going to have a very big involvement in the facts of the outbreak and so on.  There's a lot of divisions like that so yes, with respect, I completely agree and I think I would just emphasise again that we're looking for succinct focused material, not encyclopaedias on every conceivable aspect.  This inquiry, in my submission, should focus on only what matters and what needs to be learnt for the future.  I propose communicating with anyone who wants to be involved in producing material, information, evidence and documents as to how that should occur.  It's proposed that the inquiry will issue another minute, minute number 2, probably on Monday and that this will be on the website and also sent to parties who have given an address for service.  That minute will propose time periods and will contain some information about documents, how to produce a document, numbering systems, a core bundle of documents which we will provide so that parties don’t need to duplicate that and matters of that nature.  They're all very straightforward procedural matters.  We are aiming to keep it simple and easy to use, including for lay-people as well as those who have lawyers representing them.  So we want that out as soon as possible and it should have answers to the key questions.  If not, anyone is free to contact us or Mr Cairncross at any time and we see a co-operative evolving process over the next four weeks before – well the four weeks after this week before the inquiry commences hearings.  I think the only other thing I would say is that we are aware of some tests carrying on now, the results of which won't be available imminently.  In my submission, the inquiry can readily enough accommodate that by fitting them in later and we can interpose issues a little down the track in cases where test results are not available.  So my suggested approach is that we obtain everything that’s available now and through to late November and that the inquiry proceed on that basis with other things being fitted in later as needed.

Q. Now, Mr Gedye, assuming that one of the core participants wants to contribute on one or more of the nine issues in what I will call part A.

A. Yes.

Q. And that they think that they have a witness or someone that can give evidence about those issues.

A. Yes.

Q. When do you anticipate that they would provide a statement, a brief statement of that evidence?

A. We would ask that no later than the 18th of November but preferably earlier if it's available.  It's obviously going to be difficult to get everything on the 18th, so to the extent the material is available earlier, we would ask for it.  In particular, the two papers I have suggested, which is regimes and who does what and responsibilities, we’d like that within the next short period, say two weeks if possible, and also the paper on the outbreak facts and the timeline, we’d also like that within two weeks if possible because once we get those papers, we need to then amalgamate them and offer them back to the parties for comment.  So this will take some time.

Q. In terms of the timeline, for example, I anticipate that some of the participants will be providing information about the chronology up here.

A. Yes.

Q. Others may be providing information about a different part of the chronology and would you anticipate providing an amalgamated timeline or chronology?

A. Yes.  We want to amalgamate all the material produced on non‑contentious matters so that we effectively have a paper or a piece on that topic and it will bring together and put into correct order and time order and logical sequence what the parties have provided us.  I do stress we see this as all the non-contentious matters.  Questions of fact shouldn't take up precious hearing time, in my submission, and no one should be inclined to test or challenge simple questions of fact.  Time, a date, what a person did or didn’t do.  There will be an opportunity during the hearings to raise any aspect of the assessment of that but I suggest the actual facts themselves must be written down, assembled and turned into an agreed set of facts.

Q. So is what you are saying that conclusions to be drawn from the primary facts –

A. Yes.

Q. – or inferences to be drawn from primary facts, might be perhaps the matter of submission?

A. Yes.
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Q. But not included in simple statements of what happened?
A. Yes Sir.  I haven’t mentioned submissions.  The general thinking, I think, is that once evidence has been heard, then submissions will follow.  That these will be largely in writing or maybe wholly in writing and again we would want those to be very focussed and as short as possible.

Q. There are no prizes for length.  In fact the prizes would be the other way; short and to the point.

A. And where reports have been produced, it may be that we can just receive that report and that report can be the subject of cross‑examination or submission.  We are in a process at the moment of trying to work out whether it is better to just take a report or whether a party prefers to pull only the relevant parts of that report out and make its author available for evidence if need be.

Q. That could perhaps be a matter for discussion between you and those key parties involved.

A. Yes Sir I think so.

QUESTIONS:  DR POUTASI – NIL

QUESTIONS: MR WILSON – NIL

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MR CASEY:
Q. Mr Casey, as I foreshadowed, we are quite interested in whether you agree with or see merit in the two stage approach and I understand that your client obviously will want to be a core participant.

A. Yes.

Q. And we will announce those probably in the minute number 2.  And the fact that if someone desperately wants to be a core participant and they are not included, that is not the end of the story.  There is power to designate status of core participant later on but we will do our best to get the list correct.

MR CASEY QC MAKES OPENING STATEMENT:

I think it is apparent that the Hastings District Council will be the, not the only, but certainly one of the core participants.  Can I just start by indicating that the Mayor of Hastings, Lawrence Yule, wished to be here in person but he has had to go to Wellington on a long-standing local government matter and he couldn’t reschedule it but the Chief Executive is here.  And on behalf of them and on behalf of the Council itself, they acknowledge that the Council has the responsibility for delivering safe drinking water to its communities and that it failed to do so on this occasion.  The Mayor and Mr McLeod have both publicly apologised and would like that to be recorded here as well.  They particularly speak on behalf of their staff whose careers have been built around protecting the communities from illness and the devastation that they have experienced, having this happen on their watch.  The Council is, of course, as anxious and probably more anxious than anyone to establish what happened and why and as to what lessons can be learned to ensure that the likes of this never happens again and not just in its community, but anywhere in New Zealand.  So it fully supports this inquiry, it fully supports the terms of reference and it will be doing its utmost to assist this inquiry with what information and input it can provide.  You have that assurance.  The Council notes the proposal to split the inquiry in two and generally supports that and also in a general sense the topics proposed for each stage and I might just touch on that briefly.  The terms of reference for the inquiry will obviously include the adequacy of the steps taken by the Hastings District Council and whether any person or organisation, and that must include the Council and some of its personnel, were at fault or failed to meet required standards.  Now as you will appreciate, that has been the principal focus of the Council’s work to date, trying to work out what has happened, how it happened, how it could have been avoided if it could have been avoided and what should be done and I have to say on the information so far available, there is no clear answer to that and it will be for this inquiry obviously, when you have heard everything that we can put before you and other parties will put before you, to make that determination and if on the evidence and on the analysis the inquiry finds that the Council or its personnel were at fault, then Council will do all within its power to address that and to restore confidence in the community about its performance in the future and about the safety of drinking water but it says we're not there, we're nowhere near there at that stage yet and that’s why it welcomes the inquiry being a fully independent body to investigate and to come back with those findings but without diminishing any of what I've said, the Council is concerned that the inquiry should be focused on findings of fact and evaluating those facts rather than the focus being on finding fault.  Now, I acknowledge what my learned friend Mr Gedye has said about that being part of the terms of the inquiry and that is appropriate but the Council does not want the inquiry, and I'm sure you don’t either, to become a finger‑pointing exercise.  I don’t think that will assist anybody.  We're here to try and find out the facts and work out what should be done to ensure it doesn’t happen again but the list of issues, and for that matter the terms of enquiry, might have given some people the impression that the primary focus of the inquiry is to find fault and I'm encouraged that we're told that that’s not what your primary focus will be and I hope I've got that right.  Can I just briefly touch on the questions of timetable and I'm happy to elaborate in more detail if it would assist the inquiry about the lines of investigation that are underway at the moment and the reporting that it is expected to come through that.  At the moment we have about eight different projects entrain, all of which are centred around what happened and why and hopefully that will be brought together or enough of it will be brought together in time that we can meet the expected start date.  Unfortunately, some of the testing, some of the testing, some of the science testing, has to be in time sequence and that time will not be achievable by the 28th of November.  We're hoping but it depends a little bit on other circumstances that there will be results in time for the second tranche of hearings.  It's a little bit unfortunate in that we may well go down some pathways at the first part of the hearing which later results find either were red herrings or should have been given more emphasis.

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MR CASEY:
Q. Just on that, Mr Casey, it seems to me that if the Council does have lines of enquiry which are yet to be completed, that the other parties have clear notice of what those lines of enquiries and what the expected timetable for completion would be.

A. Yes.

Q. At least by the time you provide your first tranche of evidence. 

A. It might be useful perhaps if I just briefly touch on what they are now to give an idea of the flavour of them, if that’s appropriate.

Q. Just briefly.  

A. Yes.

Q. I do not expect any detail at all but it might be helpful to the parties.

A. Yes.

Q. Just so that they can plan accordingly and if there is any change, I would expect you or the Council would let the other parties know.

A. Of course.

Q. If it was going to be advanced or if it was going to be, even more significant, delayed.  

A. As you might expect, one of the main lines of enquiry has been a field investigation to look at sites of potential cause or origin of the bacteria and the contamination.  That has been going on for some time.  It's covered the whole catchment of 140 hectares.  10 particular sites of priority have been identified and further work is being undertaken on those sites.  They include the nearby Mangateretere Stream and so we're looking at what, particularly on those 10 priority sites, what might have happened there that could have caused the contamination.  Now, we're hoping that the results of those two enquiries, one following the other, will be available in time in the week, I expect, of the 14th of November, earlier if possible, but in time for the hearing.  It's expected that that enquiry at least will have reached that stage.  Not that it'll provide an answer.
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Q. Yes.  With respect to that stream, quite apart from the testing that is going on, will there be evidence as to the geography and the natural features of it?  I mean for example, as part of our inquisitorial powers, had a look at it yesterday, and it was on the top side of the road, almost empty and dry.

A. Yes.

Q. But on other occasions earlier it was in a completely different state.

A. It’s not just the geography obviously, it is the hydro-geography as well and those are the things that are being investigated as best one can with the technology that is available and in the time and within the resources that are available, yes that is underway.  Not just of the stream but of that whole catchment, of the stream included.

Q. I think it would be helpful, if quite apart from what you are saying today, if you were to provide counsel assisting with a summary.

A. Oh yes.

Q. Just so that we are not doubling up on enquiries, that was the purpose of my question.

A. Well I think as my learned friend , Mr Gedye has indicated, there has been a high level of co-operation and of course that will continue and hopefully we are giving the information that is needed and is useful at this stage and then will continue to do so.  Now associated with that is some tracer testing which is underway now.  That is to, put trace elements or tracers into the various potential sources and to see where they end up.  That is going to take some time we expect; it might be very quick but we don’t know and that is the reason for doing the tracer testing and that is one of the areas that might not be completed or even sufficiently advanced by the end of next month.  Then there are geophysical investigations which I think you touched on before and that includes you know, characterisation of the geology in the catchment and above the aquifer where the bores were drawing the water from and following on from that, a hydrological assessment, so the hydrology as well as the geophysics and it is hoped that that work will be completed again in time for the middle of next month for exchange.  There will need to be obviously peer reviewing of that, this is being done at a high level then the –

Q. Just on that in terms of peer reviewing.  I am aware that sometimes the peer reviewers want to write lengthy reports.  Can you try and keep them short because it is the answer that we want to get to.

A. Well no you are dead right Sir and fortunately it is something I am familiar with in my main area of practice so I know exactly what you are talking about and a peer review is a peer review, not another opinion.

Q. Absolutely, thank you.

A. There will be the GIS platform. I am not sure what that is telling me, it is just the sharing of space data which I think follows on from these as well and then there is a catchment sanitary inspection which has largely been undertaken but is not yet complete.  We were looking at other potential, well sorry, just the whole of the catchment there. And then there is a groundwater assessment which is called a GIS groundwater assessment which talks about age and residence time.  As  some may be aware, apparently these days you can tell how old the water is and the age of the water that is in the aquifer apparently is an indication of how recently it got there.  How they do that, I have got no idea but apparently they can and good on them but that reporting will take longer, we think, than the timeframes that we are talking about but it should be available in time for the December tranche of hearings but not before.  As to other work, there is instrumentation review going on.  You will probably be aware that the system that the District Council operates has electronic reporting and controlling.
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Q. Is that the telemetry?

A. Telemetry, that’s right.  The system is being interrogated for what it showed or didn’t show, about alarms and pumps going on and off because as you'll be aware, there were some power outages during critical periods here and so that’s being examined and hopefully it'll be sufficient to be able to provide information ahead of the hearing.  There is ground water modelling being undertaken within the Brookvale bore field.  That again with the tracer testing is not something that’s going to be achieved in the short term because again it has to be done sequentially.  You can't do too much to begin with and perhaps compromise what's done next, then we'll be addressing the system background, that is the procedure and infrastructure which Mr Gedye has talked about and there'll be also some further investigations of the number 3 bore, the Brookvale number 3 bore, which was not operating at the time of the outbreak but has got a background to it that we're not sure at the moment whether that has an effect or an influence.

Q. That has been closed for some time – 

A. It has been.

Q. – I understand?

A. It was closed because of an E. coli contamination event some time back, I think last year and that may or may not be related to the more recent outbreak in the sense that it may or may not have an origin in common and that’s being investigated.  So it's expected that that will be done in time as well.  So I'm sorry that that’s been a bit sort of a rush over it all but – 

Q. No.  Well, in a sense –

A. – it gives a flavour of what's being done.

Q. – it is responsive to my question.

A. Yep.

Q. Just let me confer with one of my colleagues.  Thank you.

A. Thank you.  Now, as I say, the timeframes that are given are the best endeavours.  As I should indicate, the Council has been somewhat hindered in its ability to undertake these investigations and even –

Q. You do not need to go into the detail there.  I understand.

A. Thank you.

Q. And it is a busy time for everybody.

A. Yes.  Thank you, Sir.  So if there's anything else I can assist you with, that was really what I wanted to address you on but again, repeat what I said at the outset, that the Council takes this very seriously and will be fully engaged in the inquiry.

Q. Thank you.  No, the two things that are for decision, procedural decision today are whether we do it in two parts and whether your client expects to be designated a core participant and you have answered that very clearly.

A. Perhaps I can ask one question from what my learned friend said.  When we say do it in two parts, is it expected that there will be a report on the first part ahead of the second part commencing?

Q. That is the expectation.

A. That’s what I understood and thank you for that.  I don’t know because I haven't taken instructions at this stage just how involved the Council will be in the second part.  We will be but perhaps not quite as actively as in the first part.

Q. Not perhaps as closely and in such a detailed way.

A. Thank you, Sir.

Q. Thank you.  Just before you sit down, I will just check with my colleagues.  Any questions?  Thank you very much indeed.  Now, Ms Chen?

MS CHEN:

Thank you, Sir.  May it please the Inquiry Panel, I wanted to start today by just introducing Mr Andrew Newman.  He's the Chief Executive of Hawkes Bay Regional Council and he wanted to say something on behalf of the Council.

THE COURT ADDRESSES ms chen (11:04:00) – microphone

MS CHEN:
May it please the inquiry panel, the Hawkes Bay Regional Council will be making submissions but I'd like to introduce Mr Andrew Newman.  He's the CEO and he just wanted to make some comments to start.  Thank you very much, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MR NEWMAN:
Q. And, Mr Newman, you might like to swap places with –

A. Yes, I will.

Q. – Ms Chen.

A. Can you all hear me before I start?  So thank you, members of the panel.  I really just want to introduce the Council, talk a wee bit about the Council’s role, what the Council is doing currently in terms of its role, introduce some key members of the staff that are involved in that because there's a significant amount of resource being applied to this question and also just reaffirm that, as is the case for Hastings District, we as a public authority are equally concerned to ultimately get to the bottom of this issue and co-operate with the panel in such a way as that is done.

Q. Well, thank you for that assurance.

A. Yes.

Q. And it will, as I have indicated, require a great deal of goodwill.

A. Yeah, it will.
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Q. On all sides and I think that is important.

A. Thank you.  So look briefly just to identify our responsibilities, the Council has a clear role around the environmental issues, such as ground water, surface water, water allocation and water quality and it has an indirect role in relation to the Health Act but it does need to take cognisance of the national environmental standard for freshwater, obviously, in all of its activities both in the planning sense, regulatory sense, compliance and consenting sense.  Turning a wee bit to staff, I just really wanted to introduce them because they will be, at various stages, part of this process.  So if you indulge me I might just get people to stand up.  I might start with Liz.  Liz was the interim CEO of the Council for the bulk of the work that has been done to date.  I have just returned to the CEO role as of the last 10 days, so Liz has carried the load for us in that role.  James Palmer manages Strategic Development, essentially the role concerned with the statutory planning functions for the Council, intimately involved in this process.  Ian Maxwell will be a central figure for HBRC, Ian manages the regulatory and science functions for the Council, so it is fair to say Ian you will be very intimately involved.  Steven Swabey manages the environmental section for the Council, 35 scientific staff and again Steven has been very heavily involved in leading the investigation in terms of the Council’s responsibilities and will be a key person for us.  Wayne Wright manages the compliance brainwork for the Council which essentially looks at the implementation, management and performance and consents which is relevant to our responsibilities here and finally Malcolm Miller, the consents manager, oversees the consents, so pretty comprehensive team there and the fact that we have got all of these people engaged, indicates the amount of resource work that we are putting into in our part of the process.

Q. Can I just check, Mr Newman.  The panel has received a paper providing a very helpful overview of the Regional Council’s role and I will just summarise it so that I have got my understanding correct.  That the obligations are said to be limited, is that right?

A. Correct.

Q. And generally relate to the protection of the source of the water.  Is that right?

A. Yes correct.

Q. And it is effected through the resource consenting process?

A. That’s correct.  And that is an important question because that really defines where our focus lies and it is very much around the resource itself.

Q. Well that is historical essentially isn’t it, so forgive me.  I don’t have the chronology clear in my head yet but there was the most of a number of consents that relate to the Brookvale bores, is that right?

A. Yes there are a number of consents relate to the Brookvale bores and the Council has a role in those and is that probably relevant, the role in that is relevant to this inquiry, absolutely.

Q. No, that is very good.  

A. I am down the home straight because I wanted to be very short here.  In our statutory role we are undertaking an investigation, it is an independent investigation into Brookvale Road bores under the RMA.  Clearly HDC has been notified of that investigation and there has been co-operation between ourselves and HDC.  We expect to have that investigation complete by late November including the underlying scientific and technical work so that’s our intention to the extent that maybe uncertainties, will just identify those uncertainties at this point and that is really probably all I wanted to say and I will hand over to Ms Chen to really complete the Council submissions.
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Q. Just clarifying the last observation that you made.  To the extent that there are uncertainties, then presumably one of your officers or Ms Chen or her off‑sider would simply be alerting counsel assisting as to where the uncertainties –

A. Yes.  Yes, we will and we'll be extremely clear about that and succinct.

Q. Yes, that is good because in a sense, our enquiry is potentially much broader than any investigation that the Regional –

A. That’s absolutely right and it will be very clear as to what our role is and where it sits and also I would just emphasise that in terms of any work that we do, we're clearly keen to ensure that where it's got relevance to the panel’s process, it will then be an enquiries process and send it to you.

Q. That is great.  Thank you very much indeed.

A. Thank you.

MS CHEN:
So thank you, Sir.  May it please the Panel.  So I can pick up on the investigation details and the only reason is simply because of the nature of the investigation and we're also cognisant of the fact that we have an independent statutory role and we want to make sure that nothing that we provide the inquiry with would undermine the nature or prejudice that investigation but nevertheless –

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MS CHEN:
Q. How on earth could that possibly be?  We are not going to –

A. Absolutely.

Q. – cut across that in any way, shape or form.

A. Absolutely, Sir, and –

Q. You just get on with it.

A. That's what we've done and we've provided information to the inquiry to date on that basis.  So the important point, however, was that we had signalled to counsel assisting that it might take longer than it is actually going to take. 

Q. I –

A. I have now spoken with the team so we are hopeful that we will meet the 18 November date to provide you with all of the information.  If that is not possible, however, it may come later but of course in terms of natural justice, if there's a need for the material to go to the other side, then maybe it needs to be cross-examined on later in December and not necessarily in –

Q. No, that is helpful.

A. – November.  Thank you.  So, Sir, you asked two questions.

Q. Yes.

A. And obviously the core participant status is very important to the Regional Council.  It's got a core role here.  You're right with respect to the regulatory function.  It is very focused under the Resource Management Act as opposed to the Health Act.  The Health Act is really for water suppliers and we're not a water supplier of any relevance to the Havelock North water contamination matter.

Q. Now, just picking up on that –

A. Yes, absolutely, Sir.

Q. – Ms Chen, as I understand it, once the water is physically extracted, the responsibility for quality and potability of that water rests with the drinking water supplier?

A. That is correct and there are positive obligations.  There are very limited –

Q. Not your client?

A. No, not my client, Sir. 

Q. No.

A. And so the water supplier here is the District Council but there are very specific obligations.  They're very narrow and they only apply if the Regional Council is notified, either by the water supplier or by the officers here that there is a problem.  Apart from that, most of their obligations fall under the Resource Management Act and so of course the investigation we've been talking about is an investigation under Part 12 of the Resource Management Act and what they're doing is they're investigating whether the consent and the conditions regarding the Brookvale bores and particularly the water permits, have been properly complied with.  That's the focus of the investigation.

Q. I understand.

A. Thank you, Sir.  And so in terms of core participant status, Sir, I can address you further.

Q. Well, I think you would be talking to a collective open door.

A. Good.  Thank you, Sir.  So if I could move on to the second question that you asked and that was about whether the proceedings should be in stages and I submit on behalf of the Regional Council that we think it's a very sensible proposition.  In my experience, it is very important to understand the specific nature of the problem before you can connote the solution needed to fix it and the systemic part is all about ensuring it doesn’t happen again.

Q. Yes.

A. So what is it that we don’t want to happen again?

Q. Yes.

A. And I think it's very difficult to answer that question.  I also think that given the complex scientific nature, it is important that we focus and bore down otherwise we have narrow focus microscope broader systemic issues all happening at once and it's quite difficult to get to the issue.  So I think in terms of Mr Gedye’s submissions with respect to efficiency, there's no doubt that that is the best way to go about it and –

Q. And you would support the –

A. I absolutely support it, Sir, and on top of that, it's a novel proposition but a good one, that actually at the end of stage one, you actually issue the report because what that then does is inform those people interested in making submissions on stage two as to precisely what is the nature of the problem that the systemic changes should be focused towards.  So I actually think that’s a very good way to go about it, otherwise –

1115

Q. Even irrespective of changes to the system, the individual participants might want to make some more immediate changes, if necessary.

A. That’s correct, and certainly throughout our investigation we found things that might be good to change in the system, from a systemic point of view.  I mean we will point that out as we go through.  It occurs to me that a number of participants are not here today, or they are not intending to attend every hearing, that is understandable.  So I think having a report at the end of stage 1 is very valuable, for those people also, particularly if they only want to comment on stage 2.  Sir the only other comment I wanted to make was really with respect to the evidence.  We are intending to depose most of our evidence through Mr Ian Maxwell and to try and get that across in a timely manner so that briefs can be swapped.  But we also have a number of other technical experts that we are speaking to at the moment because of the nature of the science here and once again that’s really with a view to providing that assistance to the inquiry.

Q. I will make the same observation to you, as I did to Mr Casey, that we want the facts and we don’t want opinions on the facts, to the extent that we require expert expressions and that they are not provided by the parties, we can ask an expert ourselves.

A. Thank you Sir.

Q. I think it is really important, as you have indicated, the more your client can provide by the 18th, the better.

A. Thank you Sir.

Q. And if tests that are being done will come a little bit later, just signal them to counsel assisting and obviously to Mr Casey, who is likely to be most interested, his client, then I think we will all get along fine.

A. Yes, Sir.  So that’s what counsel is trying to do at the moment so what I have done is I have been in contact with Mr Darryl Liu.  He was formerly the resource management group manager at the Regional Council and specifically with respect to Mr Gedye’s issue 3 in his 19th October issue about the past.  He was the manager from 2007 to 2011 so in terms of all the Brookvale bore consents, he is the man with direct firsthand knowledge but of course Mr Liu now works at the Department of Conservation and he would like to be subpoenaed because –

Q. I don’t think that will be a problem.  You just talk to Mr Gedye and if there is any problem with issuing a subpoena, then you can raise it with the Panel.
A. Thank you, Sir.

Q. But I cannot envisage that there would be.

A. Thank you very much, Sir.

Q. In the case of someone that obviously has firsthand knowledge –

A. Thank you, Sir.

Q. – do you anticipate that this person might provide you or counsel assisting with this, a short statement?

A. Yes, he's very happy to do that and what we've done is we've provided him with a document so he can refresh his memory but he just –

Q. Well, that is good.

A. He just wanted to be clear that he wasn’t here on behalf of the Regional Council.  He was here because he was assisting the inquiry.

Q. I understand.

A. Thank you, Sir.  So I think there's only one final point to raise on behalf of the Regional Council and that really is just to make sure that briefs are able to be exchanged with sufficient time.

Q. Of course.

A. If there's going to be cross-examination.  Thank you, Sir.

Q. We will do all we can and I was very heartened by the fact that you and your client were able to meet the 18th of November suggested time.

A. What we will do, I think, Sir, is we'll provide whatever we can at that time and if we need to provide another brief, we will do so but the important point I think that Mr Newman was making was that contrary to prior indications to counsel assisting, now that we've received the documentation from Hastings District Council, which we did under a production order, it arrived on Tuesday.  We're now in a position to get on and complete the investigation.
Q. Fantastic.

A. Thank you.

Q. That is all good news.

A. Good.  Thank you, Sir.
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Q. And just in terms of cross-examination, you do not have to cross‑examine for Africa.  You know, it is just to test the propositions or if there is a witness that says something else, just put it and have the comment.

A. Thank you, Sir.  I appreciate the comment.

Q. And there is case law that says that if the cross-examination goes on too long, we can stop it.

A. Well, Sir, I have been warned and I've never been –

Q. And I do not want to have to do that.

A. No, no.  Absolutely, Sir, and I've never been to Africa but I do make the point that I'm usually very brief as a cross-examiner.  Thank you, Sir.

Q. It was not directed at you at all.  I was just speaking generally to the parties.

A. Right, Sir.  Thank you.  Are there any other questions from the Panel?

Q. Just let me check with my colleagues.  Thank you very much.

A. Thank you, Sir.

Q. It has been very helpful.

A. May it please the Panel.

Q. Thank you and thank you, Mr Newman, and thank you for introducing the Panel to your team members.  Mr Chemis?

MR CHEMIS:
Look, subject to any questions the Panel has, I think I can be very brief.  Just want to start with confirming that the DHB clearly has an important role to play in this inquiry.  It takes that role very seriously and it's very committed to it.  It wants to be a core participant and no doubt will be.  Agrees entirely with the two-stage approach.  Doesn’t envisage any difficulties with the timelines that Mr Gedye has outlined and other than that, Sir, that leads me to simply reconfirm the DHB’s commitment to assisting the inquiry in any way it can.

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MR CHEMIS:
Q. That is most helpful and thank you.  Very efficient and we appreciate it.

A. Thank you, Sir.

Q. Now, I think it might be the Ministry’s, Crown Law.

MS ARAPERE:
Thank you, Sir.  Like my friend from the DHB, I can be brief, Sir.  The Ministry of Health in particular sees itself as having a role in both proposed stages of the inquiry and that role is mostly in being able to provide information that will assist the inquiry.  The Ministry for the Environment and the Department of Internal Affairs sees themselves playing more of a role in stage two of the inquiry.  All three departments are currently preparing a background paper on the regulatory regime that they oversee and their roles and responsibilities in respect of drinking water and they have sought to be core participants in the inquiry, Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MS ARAPERE:
Q. Those are the points you wanted to make?

A. Yes, Sir, unless you have any questions or your Panel Members have any questions for me, Sir.

Q. I was just going to check on the timing of the background paper?

A. My understanding –

Q. Because we are getting some extremely helpful background material, for example the DHB has provided some material that is very helpful and we are keen to get as much of that material as possible as early as possible so that it can be included in what we hope would be a summarised non-contentious background context.

A. Yes, Sir.  I understand the Ministry of Health is liaising with the District Health Board staff about some of the situation reports during the response and epidemiological information that can be provided to counsel assisting and to the inquiry.

Q. No, that would be great.

A. In order to assist.  In terms of the background paper from each department and the parts of the regime that they're responsible for, my instructions is that they prepared that within the next fortnight.

Q. Excellent.

A. Thank you very much, Sir.

Q. So that means that they are likely to be able to meet the 18th?

A. Yes, Sir.  

Q. Or earlier?

A. Hopefully before.  Hopefully before.

Q. Thank you very much, Ms Arapere.

A. Thank you, Sir.

Q. Now, just pause please.  You do support the two-stage approach?

A. Yes, we do, Sir.

Q. That is as I understand it.

A. Yes.

Q. Yes.  All three Ministries?

A. Yes.

Q. Thank you.

A. Thank you.

Q. That is good.  Thank you.  Mr Holloway?
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MR HOLLOWAY:
Yes, Sir, I can be very brief.  As set out in the memorandum I filed beforehand, Dr Jones does support the two-stage approach and he does not seek to be designated as a core participant at this stage.  My instructions, Sir, came at a point in time before the DHB had fully involved my learned friends from Buddle Finlay.  Now that they are involved, I anticipate that the most efficient and best way that Dr Jones can assist the inquiry is as part of the overall DHB effort and so I imagine and so I imagine he will be ably assisted in that by my learned friends, Mr Chemis and Ms Ridder.
JUSTICE STEVENS TO MR HOLLOWAY:
Q. I understand there is a DWA?

A. Sir, I understand from text message that he has come in.  He arrived late though and so I –

Q. Is he here today?

A. – have not met him in person, so we will both learn.

DR JONES:
I'm medical officer of heath.

JUSTICE STEVENS TO DR JONES:
Q. Medical officer of health.  Thank you very much indeed.  Yes.
MR HOLLOWAY:
Thank you, Sir.  That was all I had to address the Panel on.

JUSTICE STEVENS:
And I am right am I not that, and perhaps this is a question for Mr Chemis, that the role of the DWA as the drinking water assessors will be looked after by Buddle Findlay.

MR HOLLOWAY:
Fair question.

MR CHEMIS:
At this stage, I believe that is correct, Sir.
JUSTICE STEVENS:

That is good.  Sorry, I should have asked you to clarify that.  Thank you.  Very good.  Well, we are rattling through.  Ms Bryant?

MS BRYANT:
Thank you, Sir.  I’m acting for NWH, who are the consulting engineers to the Council.  To answer the two questions, certainly, Sir, we have no objection to the two-stage inquiry approach.  We are seeking to be designated a core participant.  The reasons for that are as set out in the memo, mainly relate to some reports which have been authored over the last few years and to assist the factual enquiry.  There will no doubt be some overlap with the Hastings District Council and I will co-ordinate with my learned friend, Mr Casey, to make sure that process doesn’t involve any unnecessary duplication.
JUSTICE STEVENS TO MS BRYANT:
Q. I mean, for example, the drinking water plan of the District Council was contributed to in significant measure by your client, is that right?

A. My understanding, Sir, is that my client drafted the first iteration of that plan in 2008, yes, Sir.

Q. And also, I have not got it in front of me, but my memory is that they also – there were three or might have even been four people that signed off on it.
A. On the earlier plan, Sir?

Q. On that plan.  No, no.  That plan.

A. The 2008 plan, of which I have a copy, Sir.  Yes, there were, I believe –
Q. No, no.  This is later.  The Hastings District Council, there is draft one, May 2012, draft two, June 2013 and audit one, 19 January 2015.

A. I understand it is a living document, Sir.  At this present time I need to talk to Mr Casey about what the respective roles between our clients were in relation to that.

Q. No.  Excellent.  And to the extent, the piece that I had in mind was the quality assurance statement, which is on page 1?
A. Regrettably, Sir, I don’t actually have that document.  So you have the advantage of me.

Q. Well, it has got MWH New Zealand Limited.

A. Yes.

Q. Tower 1, Deans Park, Addington.  Project manager Mr Free.  Prepared by John Porter and Dylan Stoot and reviewed by Louise Jones and Dylan Stoot and approved for issue by Dylan Stoot, water supply manager.  So my point is, obviously to the extent that they participated in preparing, signing off on approving this report –

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. – then they would be perhaps an important person or persons that might make a statement?

A. Agreed, Sir, yes.

Q. Yes.  So that was what I was trying to clarify.

A. Certainly, Sir.

Q. No, that is very good.

A. Thank you.

Q. And if to the extent that they are going to be make a short statement as to what their respective roles were, then you could exchange that on the 18th?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. I do not anticipate it will be major because the report speaks for itself.

A. Absolutely, Sir.  My slight hesitation, which you may have noticed, is that some of these people are no longer with MWH, so I –

Q. I see.

A. – I will need to actually talk to them, Sir.

Q. And if and to the extent that you needed a subpoena, then you just speak to Mr Gedye about that?

A. Certainly, Sir.

Q. And I think you make a good point that the relationship between those persons and the District Council could be important.

A. Yes, Sir.
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Q. Thank you.  Well it is half past 11, we usually take a break now.  Do you anticipate saying anything further Mr Gedye?

MR GEDYE:

Q. No I don’t Sir.

JUSTICE STEVENS:  

Because it may be we can wrap this up before we take, or before we adjourn.  I think the only matters upon which I would need to hear from any other persons that have entered an appearance is if they disagreed with the concept of having reporting in two stages, along the lines it has been suggested and if they want to elaborate on core participant status.  There is no magic in the term, if anyone wants to make submissions on matters relevant to the terms of reference, they just speak to Mr Cairncross, the Secretariat or Mr Gedye QC.  Is there anyone else that wishes to speak, if not, then Mr Gedye, do you wish to say anything further.  Oh sorry, Madam, can you just repeat your name please.

MS GERRARD:

I am from Transparent Hawke’s Bay.  I would just like to, if that is all right Sir, if I could read out what Transparent Hawke’s Bay –

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MS GERRARD:
Q. Now do you, just for the record, do you support having it in two stages.

A. Certainly.
Q. And what about core participant?  That is probably less significant because you are more systematic aren’t you?

A. Yes we are.  So we are more looking at ensuring the integrity through the process of reliable information and meaningful public involvement. 

Q. Well that is why we had this hearing today to start.

A. Shall I say Transparent Hawke’s Bay Incorporated Society and our purpose for being is to ensure integrity through transparent processes, reliable information and meaningful public involvement local government decisions that affect the people of Hawke’s Bay.  As an interested community group, we wish to have the opportunity to be kept informed and when and where appropriate to have meaningful involvement in procedural matters and to ensure integrity, fullness and reliability of evidence.

Q. Well that has been most helpful and the way I hope that you can participate is by, if you wanted to make any submissions, speak to Mr Gedye or Ms Cuncannon and secondly you will be forwarded a copy of minute number 2 which will, as Mr Gedye indicated, be issued early next week but I anticipate, just from what I have heard this morning, and from what I am aware, that your organisation would be more interested in participating in stage 2.

A. No I think we will be interested in the evidence of both stages.

Q. Oh by all means.  Just before you sit down let me check with my colleague.  Thank you very much indeed.  Did you want to speak Mr Pfahlert?

MR PFAHLERT:

Thank you, Mr Chairman.  We have indicated that we wish to represent, make submissions in respect of stage 2, the systemic issues.  But I wonder whether the inquiry would be interested in us making written submissions about the general structure of the industry, the role of the association and participation and the overall operation of our organisation.  It might provide some context in which the inquiry could be usefully informed.  We could make that available before the 18th.
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JUSTICE STEVENS TO MR PFAHLERT:
Q. No, I think that would be most helpful because in a sense, that is directed at item 2 in the critical issues paper.  The issues paper will go up on the website.  It will probably be as an appendix to minute number 2.  So as long as you make it quite clear the issues to which your submissions material is directed, then I think that would be very appropriate.

A. We also support the information of the reporting into two phases.

Q. Thank you.  That is great.  Much appreciated.  Anyone else?  Yes, Ma'am.

MS WHAANGA:
Kia ora.

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MS WHAANGA:
Q. Kia ora.  

A. Victoria Whaanga.

A. Yes.

A. Whānau Ora advocate.  Our organisation takes care of children and young persons and families and services.  Our role is to protect our community, our families.

Q. Yes.

A. Our role is also to work alongside Council and all State services.

Q. Yes.

A. And our duty is to accommodate the wellbeing, health and safety and welfare of our community and I wish to take part in this and I agree with the two parts, in total agreement, because it's been a long journey, six years, and I'm very happy that this is happening because submissions have been going astray, many.  So thank you very much for giving us this opportunity to come and speak today.

Q. That is a pleasure.  And have you given the Secretariat an email address where you can be contacted?

A. They have all my addresses, phone numbers, contact numbers.  They have everything.

Q. Very good.  It is just so that we can, through the Secretariat, arrange for you to be sent a copy of minute number 2 because that way you will be aware of when the hearings are going to be and you can indicate the issues in respect of which you think you can contribute and you do not have to contribute to the evidence necessarily.  If you want to make a submission, then you are free to do so.

A. I wish to make a submission to follow up on all my other submissions that have gone astray.

Q. Well, we have not received any.

A. I know.  No one has but I have copies.  I always keep copies.

Q. Very well.  Well, you can provide to the Secretariat and counsel assisting anything you like.

A. Thank you very much.

Q. Good as gold.  Thank you.

A. Kia ora.

Q. Kia ora.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

Does that wind up the proceeding?  If there is no other people that wish to speak, then – yes?  Yes, sir.  What is your name?

MR HAPUKU:

My name is Gerry.

JUSTICE STEVENS TO MR HAPUKU:

A. Yes.  Hello, Mr Hapuku.

A. Tēnā koe.

Q. Tēnā koe.

MR HAPUKU RESPONDS IN TE REO
Q. Would you like to step forward please and speak into the microphone and I appreciate you are speaking to us in te reo and it would be quite helpful if at an appropriate point you could just briefly stop and summarise in English if you wish to do so.

A. I'll continue in English.  I just want to say that I'm part of – I live in Havelock North.

Q. Yes.

A. I've lived there for 47 years.

Q. Yes.

A. And we have been running a Kohanga Reo there since 1992.

Q. Yes.

A. And we wish to make a submission on behalf of the Kohanga Reo.

Q. Excellent.

A. And about the drinking process of water and all of that.

Q. Well, you have been in touch with Mr Gedye?

A. No.

Q. He is sitting down there.

A. Not as such but I wish to approach him and we'll make a submission.

Q. When we adjourn –

A. Yeah.

Q. – I suggest you talk to Ms Cuncannon.

A. Yeah.

Q. Now, I have a question for you.

A. Yes.

Q. I was hoping that we might start today with a karakia.

A. Yeah.  Sorry, I got a bit late.  I was hoping to get here and probably and ask you that question.

Q. Well, I have a request.

A. Yeah.

Q. Would you be good enough to be able to give a short karakia when the hearings take place on the 28th of November?

A. Okay.  I will do that.

Q. Would you be able to do that?

A. Yes, Sir.

Q. Wonderful.  That would be much appreciated because I should say that the Secretariat was trying to get in touch with you but had difficulty and so that was why it was not possible this morning.

A. Okay.

Q. All right.  So let us do it on the –

A. 28th.

Q. – the 28th of November.

A. Okay, Sir.

Q. And get the hearings off to a good start.

A. Kia ora.

Q. A prayerful start.

A. Okay.

Q. Thank you.

A. Thank you very much.

Q. Good.

A. Okay.  I've got to run.  I've got a interview outside.

Q. Do not run away before you have written your address down and an email.

JUSTICE STEVENS:

It remains for me on behalf of the Panel to thank everyone that has come along today, not just the Council and executives from the different organisations but also all of those who have made an appearance and also members of the public.  As we indicated earlier, this is a really important inquiry.  We are going to do our very best to meet the very tight time limits that apply to it and with the co-operation of everyone, we hope to be able to do that.  So thank you again and we will now adjourn until the 28th of November and the venue, I am hoping it can be in this courtroom but we will be notified as to the venue.  We will now adjourn.

COURT ADJOURNS:
11.42 am
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